

# **DECISION**

Fair Work Act 2009 s.185 - Application for approval of a single-enterprise agreement

**Arc Infrastructure Employment Pty Ltd** (AG2022/1299)

# ARC INFRASTRUCTURE ENTERPRISE AGREEMENT 2022

Rail industry

**COMMISSIONER JOHNS** 

MELBOURNE, 18 MAY 2022

Application for approval of the Arc Infrastructure Enterprise Agreement 2022

- [1] An application has been made for approval of an enterprise agreement known as the *Arc Infrastructure Enterprise Agreement 2022* (**the Agreement**). The application was made pursuant to s.185 of the *Fair Work Act 2009* (**the Act**). It has been made Arc Infrastructure Employment Pty Ltd. The Agreement is a single enterprise agreement.
- [2] The Employer has provided written undertakings. A copy of the undertakings is attached in **Annexure A**. I am satisfied that the undertakings will not cause financial detriment to any employee covered by the Agreement and that the undertakings will not result in substantial changes to the Agreement. The undertakings are taken to be a term of the agreement.
- [3] Subject to the undertakings referred to above, I am satisfied that each of the requirements of ss.186, 187, 188 and 190 as are relevant to this application for approval have been met.
- [4] The Communications, Electrical, Electronic, Energy, Information, Postal, Plumbing and Allied Services Union of Australia and the Australian Rail, Tram and Bus Industry Union being bargaining representatives for the Agreement, have given notice under s.183 of the Act that they want the Agreement to cover them. In accordance with s.201(2) I note that the Agreement covers the organisations.

[5] The Agreement is approved and, in accordance with s.54 of the Act, will operate from 25 May 2022. The nominal expiry date of the Agreement is 31 December 2025.



# **COMMISSIONER**

Printed by authority of the Commonwealth Government Printer

<AE515984 PR741683>

### Annexure A



IN THE FAIR WORK COMMISSION

Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth) ("FW Act")

Matter number:

AG2022/1299

Employer:

Arc Infrastructure Pty Ltd (Employer)

Application:

Section 185 - Application for approval of a single enterprise agreement, namely the Arc Infrastructure Enterprise Agreement 2022

(Agreement)

Authorised representative:

Sam Crowford Head of People

### Undertaking-Section 190

For and on behalf of the Employer I, Sam Crowford:

- declare that I have:
  - a. authority to give this undertaking on behalf of the Employer,
  - b. sought the views of all bargaining representatives for this undertaking pursuant to s 190(4) of the FW Act,
- 2. understand that each undertaking is to be taken to be a term of the Agreement,
- 3. give the following undertakings with respect to the Agreement:
  - a. With respect to the clause 18(1)(a) in the Agreement the clause will be taken to read as follows:

Employees will accrue an additional week of annual leave when deemed to be a seven-day shift worker who is regularly rostered to work on Sundays and public holidays where they perform shift work or are on a permanent night shift. A seven-day shift worker under this clause is a shift worker for the purpose of the NES.

b. With respect to the clause 20.2 in the Agreement - the following additional words will be inserted at the end of the clause:



An Employee is entitled to refuse a request to work on a public holiday if the request to work is not reasonable, or the refusal is reasonable. In determining whether a request, or a refusal, is reasonable, the factors listed in section 114(4) of the Fair Work Act will be taken into account.

c. With respect to clauses 27.3(b), and 1.4 of Schedule 3, in the Agreement – the following additional words will be inserted at the end of each clause:

However, any reduction in severance pay below the applicable amounts contained in section 119 of the Fair Work Act will be subject to Arc obtaining orders under section 120 of the Fair Work Act.

d. With respect to the clause 6.3 in the Agreement – a new subclause (d) will be inserted as follows:

An Employee who is employed on a casual basis in the role of Signal Maintainer, Signal Technicain, Communications Technician, Perway Patroller, Track Maintainer, Plant Operator must be engaged and paid for at least 2 consecutive hours of work on each occasion they are required to attend work. On each occasion an Employee who is employed on a casual basis in the role of Plant Fitter is required to attend for work, the Employee must be paid for a minimum of 4 consecutive hours' work.

 e. With respect to clause 6.2 in the Agreement – a new subclause (d) will be inserted as follows:

A Part time Employee must be engaged and paid for a mininum of 4 consecutive hours per shift. Arc and a Part time Employee may agree to reduce the minimum engagement to 3 hours where needed to meet the personal circumstances of the Part time Employee.



Date signed:	11 May 2022
For and on behalf of the Employer by: [In accordance with s.190(5) of the FW Act]	Samantha Crowford
Signature:	9.4
Witness name:	Tania O'Meara
Witness signature:	Adllana



# ARC INFRASTRUCTURE ENTERPRISE AGREEMENT 2022

Note - this agreement is to be read together with an undertaking given by the employer. The undertaking is taken to be a term of the agreement. A copy of it can be found at the end of the agreement.

Contents	Page

1	AGREEMENT TITLE	3
2	PARTIES TO THE AGREEMENT	3
3	TERM OF THE AGREEMENT	3
4	STAND-ALONE AGREEMENT	3
5	DEFINITIONS	3
6	TYPES OF EMPLOYMENT	5
7	CASUAL CONVERSION	5
8	PROBATION	6
9	DUTIES, TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT, TRANSFER & PROMOTION	6
10	HOURS OF WORK	7
11	SHIFT WORK	9
12	OVERTIME	10
13	REMUNERATION	11
14	SUPERANNUATION	12
<b>15</b>	SALARY PACKAGING	12
16	SALARY CONTINUANCE	12
<b>17</b>	ALLOWANCES	13
18	ANNUAL LEAVE	15
19	PERSONAL LEAVE	15
20	PUBLIC HOLIDAYS	16
21	LONG SERVICE LEAVE	17
22	COMPASSIONATE LEAVE	17
23	PARENTAL LEAVE	18
24	OTHER LEAVE	18
25	STAND DOWN	19
26	TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT	19
27	REDEPLOYMENT & REDUNDANCY	20
28	UNAUTHORISED ABSENCE	21
29	UNIFORMS	21
30	POLICIES & PROCEDURES	21
31	DISPUTE RESOLUTION PROCEDURE	21
32	INDIVIDUAL FLEXIBILITY AGREEMENT	22
33	CONSULTATION	22
34	INCLEMENT WEATHER	23
<b>35</b>	DISCIPLINARY MATTERS	24
36	WORKPLACE REPRESENTATION	25
37	STANDBY ROSTER ARRANGEMENT	25
38	FORMER BRE ARRANGEMENTS	28
SCH	IEDULE 1 – RATES OF PAY	29
SCH	IEDULE 2 – CLASSIFICATION FRAMEWORK	34
SCH	IEDULE 3 – FORMER BRE ARRANGEMENTS	43
SIG	NATORIFS	46

### 1 Agreement Title

This Agreement is called the Arc Infrastructure Enterprise Agreement 2022 (Agreement).

# 2 Parties to the Agreement

- 2.1 This Agreement covers:
- a) Arc Infrastructure Employment Pty Ltd (ABN 47 118 763 429) (Arc);
- b) Employees of Arc who are engaged in positions set out in Schedule 1 and Schedule 2 (Employees); and
- c) Australian Rail, Bus Tram & Industry Union WA Branch (**RTBU**) and the Communications, Electrical, Electronic, Energy, Information, Postal, Plumbing and Allied Services Union of Australia WA Branch (**CEPU**) (**Unions**), subject to section 201(2) of the Fair Work Act being met.
- 2.2 The Agreement does not cover:
- a) Supervisor or Management positions; and
- b) Arc Employees who are not covered by the classifications set out in this Agreement.

# 3 Term of the Agreement

This Agreement will operate seven (7) days from the date it is approved by the Fair Work Commission (Commencement date). This Agreement will have a nominal expiry date of four (4) years from the date of approval or 31 December 2025, whichever is the earliest date, unless varied by agreement and in accordance with the Fair Work Act.

### 4 Stand-alone Agreement

4.1 This Agreement operates as a stand-alone agreement and replaces, in entirety, applicable industrial instruments that may otherwise have applied to Employees covered by this Agreement.

### 5 Definitions

The following definitions will apply throughout the Agreement:

**Apprentice** means a person defined as an apprentice under the *Vocational Education, and Training Act* 1996 (WA) as amended from time to time.

**Arc Policies** means policies, procedures and guidelines of Arc Infrastructure Employment Pty Ltd and Arc Infrastructure Pty Ltd.

**ARGE** means Australian Railroad Group Employment Pty Ltd (ACN 087 891 601).

ATO means Australian Taxation Office

BRE means Brookfield Rail Employment Pty Ltd (ACN 118 763 429).

**Emergency** means an emergency due to an actual or imminent occurrence (such as fire, flood, storm, earthquake, explosion, accident, epidemic or warlike action) which endangers, or threatens to endanger, the safety of persons or destroys or damages, or threatens to destroy or damage property.

Fair Work Act means the Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth) as amended.

**Former ARGE employees** means an employee who was a former employee of ARGE and commenced employment with WNRE (as BRE was then named) on or after 1 June 2006 under transmission of business arrangements as provided for in their contracts of employment.

**Former WAGRC employees** means an employee who was a former employee of WAGRC and commenced employment with ARGE on 17 December 2000.

### Immediate family means:

- i) A spouse, de facto partner including same sex partner, child, parent, grandparent, grandchild or sibling of the Employee; or
- ii) A child, parent, grandparent, grandchild or sibling of the Employee's spouse or de factor partner including same sex partner.

NES means the National Employment Standards set out in Part 2-2 of the Fair Work Act.

**Ordinary rate of pay** means the employees' rate of pay as provided for at Schedule 1 plus any further components, as provided for in this Agreement, that are paid and apply for all purposes.

**Other suitable position** means the job must be suitable, in that the employee should have the skills and competence required to perform it to the required standard either immediately or within a reasonable period of retraining, and the location and remuneration will also be similar.

PPE means personal protective equipment as determined by Arc.

**Primary caregiver** means a person who assumes the principal role of providing care and attention to a child.

**Unavoidable necessity** means a practically inescapable circumstance necessitating working to be adopted, to avoid, if possible, serious dislocation of the operations. For example, this may include accidents, derailments, etc.

**Representative** means an Employee who is nominated by his/her fellow Employee/s to act as a representative for the Employee/s and may include a Union Representative or Workplace Representative.

**Roster Cycle** means an Employees regular working pattern of hours over a defined period of time, which can be made up of working and non-working days.

Roster Zone means the applicable standby roster zones as outlined in Schedule 1.

**Shift work** means work extending for at least five consecutive days and performed in daily recurrent periods or in regular rotating periods falling within the limits defined for early morning shift, or afternoon shift or night shift or other shifts as defined in clause 11.

**Seven-day shift worker** means an employee rostered to work ordinary shifts in accordance with clause 11 - Shift work, over seven days of the week.

Union(s) means RTBU or the CEPU.

**WAGRC** means the Western Australian Government Railways Commission.

### 6 Types of Employment

Arc may choose to employ Full time and Part time Employees, Fixed or Maximum term and Casual Employees in accordance with the provisions of this clause.

- 6.1 A **Full time Employee** will work an average of 38 hours per week as determined under clause 10 Hours of Work.
- 6.2 A **Part time Employee** will work less than an average of 38 ordinary hours per week in accordance with clause 10 Hours of Work.
- a) Part time Employees will work a regular pattern of hours as determined by Arc, confirmed on commencement of employment. These hours can be varied by agreement from time to time.
- b) Part time Employees who work in excess of their agreed ordinary rostered hours will receive overtime for those additional hours.
- c) A Part time Employee will receive, on a pro rata basis, the same conditions as a Full time Employee.
- 6.3 **A Casual Employee** is someone who meets the definition of casual employee in section 15A of the Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth), as amended from time to time. At the time of approval of this Agreement, that is an employee who, at the commencement of their employment, received no firm advance commitment to continuing and indefinite work according to an agreed pattern of work.
- a) A Casual Employee will be engaged by the hour and on an irregular basis. They will be offered work at the election of Arc, according to its needs from time to time. A Casual Employee can elect to accept or reject the hours of work Arc offers them, providing at least 2 hours' notice is provided to Arc if they decide to reject the work offered to them.
- b) Casual loading compensates a Casual Employee for any paid entitlements that the employee is not eligible to receive, including:
  - Paid annual leave;
  - Paid personal/carers leave;
  - Public holidays;
  - Notice of termination; and
  - Redundancy pay
- c) By accepting employment with Arc, a casual employee acknowledges and agrees that the 25% casual loading is paid in lieu of all industrial law, enterprise agreement or other entitlements that they may otherwise have had by reason of their status
- 6.4 A **Maximum term Employee** will be engaged in either a Full time or a Part time position for a maximum term period. A maximum term will not exceed a period of 24 months.
- 6.5 A **Fixed term Employee** will be engaged in either a Full time or a Part time position, for a specified term or specified task or project.
- Existing Employees will not have their type of employment changed by Arc without their prior consent. Any agreed change, must be in writing.

### 7 Casual Conversion

7.1 Casual conversion will be in accordance with the National Employment Standards.

### 8 Probation

- 8.1 Employees' employment (other than Casuals) will be subject to a probationary period of up to six (6) months from the date of their commencement with Arc.
- 8.2 In the event Arc determines that the Employee's performance or conduct is unsatisfactory during this probationary period, it may elect to terminate the Employee's employment with the required notice in clause 26 Termination of Employment.

# 9 Duties, Training & Development, Transfer & Promotion

- 9.1 Employees are required to do all things reasonably necessary to attain and maintain the required levels of skill, competence, health and fitness to perform their work in a safe, efficient and productive manner, as directed by Arc.
- 9.2 Employees may be required to undertake training aimed at maintaining, enhancing or broadening their work skills and performance as directed by Arc. Employees may also be required to share their knowledge and experience with others.
- 9.3 Employees are to participate in discussions about their performance and development with their direct Supervisor or Management in accordance with Arc Policy as amended from time to time.
- 9.4 Arc is committed to providing employees with necessary training to perform their duties of their position and to encourage future development opportunities. Training will be made available to Employees in accordance with Arc policies, which includes relevant training plans as amended from time to time. During the nominal term of this Agreement, if Arc seeks major changes to the national qualifications set out in Schedule 2, employees will be consulted with in accordance with clause 33 consultation. Arc will provide the opportunity for employees covered by this agreement, to achieve or make progress towards the relevant national qualification for their classification / position as set out in Schedule 2.

# 9.5 <u>Promotion</u>

a) Internal promotions will be filled by calling for expressions of interest/applications through the internal recruitment portal and considering those expressions through a merit based selection process as determined by Arc. For positions covered by this Agreement Arc will give existing employees the opportunity for promotion to vacant positions. Arc may also, based on the specific circumstances of the vacant position, seek to fill the vacancy by way of external recruitment. For the purpose of this subclause, skill based progression will not be regarded as promotion. Positions to be filled by way of appointment, as opposed to progression, are prescribed in Schedule 2.

## 9.6 <u>Transfers</u>

- a) In the event of an Employee transfer one of the following may apply:
  - i) Arc may transfer an Employee from one location / position to another, however, in considering the transfer Arc will consult with the affected Employee and will give appropriate consideration to the Employee's needs and circumstances (including family and domestic responsibilities) as well as organisational requirements.
  - ii) Where requirements or opportunities for transfers arise, Arc will seek volunteers by calling for expressions of interest from Employees wishing to be considered for

- transfer. However, this will not limit Arc's ability to transfer a particular employee where there is a specific requirement to do so.
- iii) An employee may request to transfer to another location where Arc has a vacancy in a position suitable to that employee. Arc will reasonably consider that request having regard for the employee's reasons, equity, compassionate considerations and the operational requirements at both locations.

### Hours of Work

### 10.1 Ordinary Hours

Employees' ordinary hours of work is 38 hours per week which may be averaged over a sixteen (16) week period.

- a) Ordinary hours can be worked between the span of hours of 5 am to 6 pm. Ordinary hours can only be worked between 5 am to 5.59 am by overall agreement of the majority of the employees within the relevant work group and Arc, and will be subject to a risk assessment being completed by Arc and the change being assessed as safe.
- b) Ordinary hours of work for a Full Time employee will not be less than seven point six (7.6) hours duration on each day or shift unless agreed with the Employee.
- c) Ordinary hours on any day or shift will not exceed ten (10) hours in duration or up to twelve (12) hours by agreement.
- 10.2 Employees' start and finish times, roster cycles and hours of work will be advised by Arc from time to time. Starting and finishing times may be staggered to meet operational needs in accordance with clause 10.7.

### 10.3 Meal Breaks

- a) On any shift that exceeds five hours, employees will be entitled to an unpaid and uninterrupted meal break of thirty (30) minutes and employees required to work shifts in excess of ten hours will be entitled to a further paid break of twenty (20) minutes.
- b) The timing of meal breaks will be as agreed between the supervisor and the employee(s) so as to cause the least disruption to the operations but will be no later than the fifth hour of the shift.
- c) An employee required to attend a call out or work other additional shifts in excess of four hours duration will be entitled to a paid meal break of twenty (20) minutes where the call out or additional shift continues beyond that four hours. The timing of the meal break will be arranged so as to cause the least amount of disruption to the operations.
- d) The unpaid thirty (30) minute meal break may be converted to a paid twenty (20) minutes break in the following circumstances:
  - i. Where the employee, due to requirements of the supervisor (or other authorised person), is unable to have an uninterrupted meal break, or;
  - ii. Where the employee is requested to be on standby during their meal break (where the time of the meal break cannot be reasonably moved) or;
  - iii. Where the employee is required to return to work during their meal break (once commenced).
- e) When the paid meal break is applicable, in agreement with the employee's supervisor (or other authorised person), the employee may either finish duty early at the end of the Employee's working day or be paid additional hours if the employee works beyond that day.

### 10.4 Weekend Work

a) An Employee working rostered Ordinary Hours on a Saturday and Sunday will be entitled to be paid the premiums set out in clause 11.2(a) and 11.2(b).

### 10.5 Rostered Day Off (RDO)

- a) RDOs may be implemented as agreed between Arc and an Employee on the basis of the following arrangement:
  - i. Two (2) hours accrued per week worked (known as the 19-day month).
- b) Where it is agreed that RDOs will be implemented, Ordinary Hours will be arranged to allow the accumulation of ordinary time towards the taking of RDOs.
- c) For the avoidance of doubt, RDOs will accumulate and be debited on Ordinary Hours only and no RDO accrual on leave. In the event you are receiving makeup pay, you will accrue .4 for RDO accrual
- d) The .4 accrual takes place after the 7.6 hours ie no accrual on hours worked less than 7.6 hours.
- e) No negative accrual on RDO's, if there is insufficient accrual another leave type will need to be taken.
- f) Where an RDO is scheduled the Employee, will be required to take the day off and accrued RDO entitlement will be deducted and paid out of their RDO banked hours unless otherwise agreed by the Employee
- g) Where an Employee elects to take more than 7.6 accrued RDO hours out of their RDO bank on consecutive working days, the Employee must seek approval from Arc at least two
   (2) weeks in advance unless otherwise agreed. Any additional clearance of RDO's will be subject to operational requirements and Arc's agreement.
- h) Employees will be paid in lieu for all untaken RDO accruals in their RDO bank on termination.
- i) Due to operational requirements, an Employee can be requested by Arc to either change their RDO to another day within the period or accumulate the day for later clearance. Arc will provide the Employee with a minimum five (5) working days' notice of such a change or lesser period by mutual agreement.
- j) Employees will have the flexibility to request Arc to use their accrued banked RDOs for days off.
- k) Any accrued RDOs in excess of 2 RDO day accrual (15.2 hours) will be automatically paid out in the last full pay period before Christmas each year or earlier as requested by the Employee.
- l) The provisions of this clause do not apply when employees complete shift work in accordance with clause 11 Shift Work.

### 10.6 Reasonable Additional Hours

From time to time, Employees may be required to work reasonable additional hours to their rostered hours to meet operational requirements. In determining whether the additional hours are 'reasonable', a range of factors must be taken into account, including (but not limited to):

Any risk to the Employee's health and safety;

- i. The Employee's personal circumstances including family responsibilities;
- ii. The operational requirements of the workplace;

- iii. Aligned to the fatigue management standard, as amended from time to time;
- iv. The notice (if any) given for the need to work the additional hours and the Employee's intention to refuse it; and
- v. Any other relevant matter.

### 10.7 Notification of Change of Hours

Should Arc require the Employee to permanently change their regular rostered ordinary hours of work, Arc will consult with the Employee about the proposed changes including seeking the views and circumstances of the Employees in accordance with clause 33-Consultation. An Employee will be provided with a minimum of fourteen (14) days' notice of that change or a shorter period by agreement. Temporary changes of less than four (4) weeks in duration may be worked either immediately by agreement or on forty-eight (48) hours' notice

### 11 Shift Work

- 11.1 Where an Employee is required to work Shift Work, the Roster Cycle will ensure that the Employee's ordinary hours of work will be thirty-eight (38) ordinary hours averaged over the roster cycle. Shift workers ordinary hours will be worked in accordance with a roster.
- 11.2 An Employee working Shift Work will be paid the following shift allowances. The allowances will be applied to the Employees applicable base hourly rate contained in Schedule 1 of this Agreement in respect to ordinary hours worked:
- a) **Saturday Shift** Ordinary hours worked on a Saturday will be a rate equal to 175% of their base hourly rate for each hour worked.
- b) **Sunday Shift** Ordinary hours worked on Sunday will be a rate equal to 175% of their base hourly rate for each hour worked.
- c) **Public Holiday Shift** Ordinary hours on any public holiday worked will be paid a rate equal to 270% of their base hourly rate for each hour worked.
- d) Early Morning Shift Scheduled Ordinary hours commencing at or after 4 am but before, 5am on any weekday will be paid a rate equal to 120% of their base hourly rate for each hour worked. Unscheduled ordinary hours (call outs) commencing at or after 4am but before 6am on any weekday will be paid a rate equal to 120% of their base hourly rate for each hour worked.
- e) Afternoon Shift Ordinary hours commencing between 12 pm and 6 pm and finishing after 6pm any weekday will be paid a rate equal to 120% of their base hourly rate for each hour worked.
- f) **Night Shift** Ordinary hours commencing after 6.00 pm and before 4am on any weekday will be paid a rate equal to 130% of their base hourly rate for each hour worked.
- 11.3 Employees who work less than five (5) consecutive Early Morning, Afternoon or Night Shifts in any roster period will be paid a minimum premium of 150% for working those shifts.
- 11.4 The penalty rates within this clause and clause 12 Overtime are not cumulative. Where an Employee is entitled to more than one penalty rate, the Employee will be entitled to the highest single penalty rate.
- 11.5 Arc may change shift rosters or require an Employee to work a different shift roster at its direction where operational circumstances require. Arc will provide the Employee with as much notice as practicable prior to any change in the roster and, wherever possible, Arc will

consult with the Employee before any change to the roster is made. Where Arc proposes permanent changes to shift rosters Arc will consult with the Employee about the proposed changes including seeking the views and circumstances of the Employees in accordance with clause 33- Consultation and provide a minimum of fourteen (14) days' notice of that change or a shorter period by mutual agreement.

### 12 Overtime

- 12.1 Where Employees are required to work additional hours (any of the following may apply):
- a) In excess of ordinary hours prescribed in clause 10.1; or
- b) For Shift Work, in excess of hours prescribed in clause 11.1; or
- c) In excess of daily ordinary hours; or
- d) For Part time Employees, beyond the agreed ordinary hours;

They will be paid for these additional hours at the rate of:

When	Overtime Penalty
Monday to Sunday	175% of their base hourly rate for each hour worked
Public Holiday	270% of their base hourly rate for each hour worked

- 12.2 All overtime is to be calculated and applied to Employees applicable base hourly rate of pay in Schedule 1.
- An Employee recalled to work overtime after leaving the worksite will be paid for a minimum of four (4) hours work at the applicable overtime rates.
- 12.4 Rest periods after working additional overtime hours
- a) The minimum rest period between ordinary shifts will be ten (10) hours.
- b) Where circumstances require, and subject to satisfying fatigue management requirements, employees may be requested, and agree, to resume work without the minimum rest period.
- c) In the case of callouts, the following should apply:
  - i) Except where clause 12.4(c)(iv) applies, where an employee has completed a ten (10) hour break from work and attends a callout (or callouts) and the employee is planned to commence an ordinary shift following the call out, the following will apply:
    - (a) Where the call out starts before 4am, the employee is entitled to a break of up to eight (8) hours following the completion of the call out.
  - ii) Where an employee has not completed a ten-hour break from work and attends a callout (or callouts) the employee will be entitled to a ten (10) hour break after attending the last callout during the non-work or rostered standby period;
  - iii) For the purpose of determining rest periods on non-working days an employee's rest period will notionally be treated as commencing at 4pm on the non-working day;
  - iv) Where an employee has completed a ten (10) hour break from work and attends a callout (or callouts) on a normal working day and the callout is still being attended

to at the normal shift commencement time or a callout commencing on or after 4am (irrespective of the callout duration) will be treated as follows:

- (a) The callout commencement time will be treated as the start of the shift for the day;
- (b) The employee will work the remaining hours necessary to complete the seven point six (7.6) hour shift for the day and then be released from duty (unless required to continue working due to an emergency or unavoidable necessity) or, if agreed, the employee may be released from duty as soon as practicable to commence rest in accordance with clause 11.4(c)(i);
- (c) Where the employee is required to continue working beyond the seven point six (7.6) hours, due to an emergency or unavoidable necessity, those further hours will be paid at the additional hours rate of pay;
- v) Where an employee commences work later than the normal commencement time as a result of taking the rest periods provided for in this clause the employee will only be required to remain at work until the employee's original shift finishing time unless required to continue work due to an emergency or unavoidable necessity;
- vi) An employee will not lose ordinary pay as a result of being provided the above rest periods resulting from callouts. In such cases, make up time will be paid for the ordinary hours for the day at the rate of pay applicable to that day, callouts excepted, that have not been worked.
- vii) Where rest periods prescribed in the fatigue management standard exceed those in clause 12.4 the greater will apply

### 13 Remuneration

- 13.1 The base rates payable to Employees for each classification of work are set out in Schedule 1 Rates of Pay.
- 13.2 Arc will be responsible for determining the classification level of each Employee in accordance with Schedule 2 Classification Framework.

### 13.3 Pay Increases

i) On commencement date of agreement: 3.8%

The rates of pay listed in Schedule 1 contain the following increases, which will be effective on and from the first full pay period in January of each applicable year below:

- ii) January 2023: 2.75%
- iii) January 2024: 2.75%
- iv) January 2025: 2.75%
- 13.4 Employees in the positions of Signal Technician, Signal Maintainer and Perway Patroller who are employed with Arc prior to the commencement of this agreement and continue to be employed with Arc at the commencement date of the Agreement will receive:
  - i) A fixed increase of 5% for buy out of Availability Allowance. The rates listed in Schedule 1 for commencement already contain these increases.
- 13.5 Employees in the positions of Track Maintainer, Welder and Welder Offsider who are employed with Arc prior to the commencement of this agreement and continue to be employed with Arc at the commencement date of the Agreement will receive:

i) A fixed increase of \$1 per hour for buy out of the Base Modifier M1 – MR Licence. The rates listed in Schedule 1 for commencement already contain these increases.

### 13.6 Frequency of Pay

a) Payment will be paid fortnightly by electronic funds transfer to the credit of an Employee at a recognised financial institution nominated by the Employee.

### 13.7 Overpayments

- a) Where an Employee is for any reason overpaid, Arc will advise details to the Employee. The Employee and Arc will seek to reach an agreement on recovery of the overpayment against their earnings in the following pay or pays to allow reasonable reconciliation of the overpayment. Any agreement will be in writing.
- b) A dispute about an overpayment or hardship to an Employee who has been overpaid may be dealt within accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure.

### 14 Superannuation

- 14.1 Arc will make superannuation contributions on the employee's behalf, as provided by the Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992 as amended or replaced, into a complying superannuation fund as nominated by the employee.
- 14.2 Where an employee does not make an active choice and nominate a complying superannuation fund within 28 days of starting employment Arc will follow the Your Super legislation, as amended from time to time, by using the 'stapling' set of rules via the ATO online service
- 14.3 Employees may salary sacrifice into a complying superannuation fund. Any salary sacrifice must be in accordance with the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) requirements and guidelines established by Arc.

### 15 Salary Packaging

Arc and an Employee may enter into a Salary Packaging arrangement (salary sacrifice) in accordance with Arc policy as determined from time to time, and subject to the requirements of the Australian Taxation Office and relevant legislation.

### 16 Salary Continuance

- Subject to, and in accordance with, the applicable Arc policy, all eligible employees are automatically covered under the Arc Salary Continuance Insurance:
- a) In the event that an employee who is applying for salary continuance has exhausted all their personal leave accrual prior to the qualifying period concluding, the employee may be granted special paid leave until such time as the claim is reviewed by the Insurer;
- b) Where approved, payment of special leave will be at the employee's substantive ordinary rate of pay, however annual leave, personal leave and long service leave will not accrue during the period where special paid leave applies;
- c) The employee's personal leave may be used to cover any shortfall in the Insurer's base pay coverage (i.e. if the Insurer covers base pay up to a maximum 75% the employee's personal leave will cover the remaining 25%). In the event that the employee has exhausted all personal leave the gap may be covered by Arc;

- d) In the event the Insurer declines the claim, Arc will not be required to provide any further special paid leave;
- e) Nothing in this clause precludes Arc from making a decision to terminate an employee's employment where a suitable qualified medical practitioner certifies the Employee can no longer perform the inherent requirements of their position. Prior to making a final decision to terminate an Employee on these grounds, Arc will consider available suitable alternative positions for redeployment.

### 17 Allowances

17.1 The Allowances listed in clauses 17.2 and 17.3 will increase on and from the first full pay period in January of each applicable year based on the same pay increases outlined in clause 13.3.

The following allowance may apply to Signal Technicians and Electricians:

### 17.2 Nominee Allowance

- a) An "A" grade electrical licensed tradesperson required to act as a nominee for an in house electrical contracting licence will be paid a flat allowance of \$121.87 per week.
- b) Arc will pay for the appropriate level of insurance to cover the work of the nominee, where required.

The following allowance may apply to Track Levels 1-4 only:

### 17.3 Base Rate Modifiers

a) The following Base Rate Modifiers will be paid to an Employee where they hold and maintain the relevant competency and Arc requires the Employee to perform the work associated with that relevant competency. The hourly allowances are an all-purpose payment:

Base Rate Modifier	Description	Hourly Allowance
M1	Mobile Plant Operator	\$1.00 per hour

### The following allowances may apply to all Employees:

### 17.4 <u>Overtime Meal Allowance</u>

- a) An Employee who is required to work in excess of two and one half (2.5) hours overtime immediately before or after completion of ordinary hours, will be paid a meal allowance of \$20.00.
- b) The meal allowance will not be payable where an employee is claiming a concurrent meal allowance

### 17.5 On-Call Allowance

- a) When an Employee is nominated by Arc to be on call to carry out work as required outside of their Ordinary Hours, they will be entitled to;
  - i) Receive a flat payment of \$6.00 per hour fixed rate for the term of the agreement.
- b) On each occasion that an Employee is recalled to duty they will be paid a minimum of four (4) hours at the relevant overtime penalty rate.

- c) If an employee is called back within the minimum payment period mentioned above in subclause 17.5(b), they will not be entitled to any extra payment until their working time exceeds the minimum period.
- d) Employees must be in a fit state to carry out the full functions of their role consistent with Arc policy and this Agreement, contactable and be available to return to duty.
- e) In the event that an Employee is recalled to duty, the provisions of clause 12.4 will also apply.
- f) If an employee is not contactable or fails to respond and does not attend duty the employee will not be paid the allowance for the period the employee was required to be on call.
- g) This clause will not apply to Employees receiving paid standby roster arrangements provided for in clause 37.

### 17.6 Higher duties

- a) An Employee appointed by Arc to perform the duties of a higher position for one (1) day or more, will be paid the higher position base rate of pay for the time performing the duties of the higher position.
- b) Provided that such time is not part of on the job training under the direct supervision of another Employee.

### 17.7 Motor Vehicle Reimbursement

a) Where an employee is requested by Arc, and agrees, to use their own motor vehicle on work related duties they will be reimbursed the applicable "cents per kilometre" rate for the work related distance travelled, as detailed by the ATO. The rates will be adjusted each year following publication by the ATO as amended or updated from time to time and be effective from the commencement of the first pay period on or after July 1 each year.

### 17.8 Expenses

- a) Expenses incurred by an employee while on Arc Business will be paid in accordance with the following provisions and Arc policy concerning expenses and as agreed by a Supervisor or Lead. Employees will only be paid expenses when a cost is actually incurred and employees may be required to provide evidence to Arc's satisfaction of those costs incurred.
- b) An Employee directed by Arc to work at a location away from where the Employee is usually employed, will be transported to that location free of charge. Where this does not occur the Employee will be paid any fares (including return fares on completion of job) reasonably incurred by the Employee. Where there is a requirement for an overnight stay the following provisions will apply:
  - Arc Infrastructure will provide and pay for Employee Accommodation.
     Accommodation will be approved by an Employee's immediate Supervisor and booked in accordance with Arc's internal procedures as amended from time to time;
  - ii) Employees will be eligible to claim meal allowances for breakfast, lunch and dinner (as required to be claimed) and receive a daily incidental allowance in accordance with the "Reasonable Daily Travel Allowance expenses Table 1" as declared by the ATO as amended or updated from time to time. Meal allowances will not be claimed where meals are provided as part of the Accommodation.
  - iii) The ATO allowances will be published on the ATO website. The amounts will be adjusted each year following publication by the ATO and be effective from the commencement of the first pay period on and from 1 July of each year of this Agreement.

### 18 Annual Leave

- 18.1 Employees, other than Casual Employees, accrue annual leave in accordance with the National Employment Standards. This means a full time Employee is entitled to accrue four (4) weeks (152 hours) for a completed year of continuous service.
- a) Employees will accrue an additional week of annual leave when deemed to be a seven-day shift worker who is regularly rostered to work on Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays where they perform shift work or are on a permanent night shift. A seven-day shift worker under this clause is a shift worker for the purpose of the NES.
- 18.2 An Employee may request to take annual leave at a time convenient to them and as agreed with Arc. When authorising annual leave, Arc will take into account the operational requirements of the workplace and will not unreasonably refuse or revoke authorisation for the taking of annual leave.
- 18.3 Employees may request in writing to cash out an amount of annual leave which they have accrued providing it is authorised by Arc and they have a remaining leave balance of four (4) weeks or greater and have had a minimum one week annual leave in the previous 12months. Any agreement to cash out leave will be made in writing and payment of the leave will be in accordance with clause 18.4.
- 18.4 Payment of annual leave will be based on the pay an Employee would have received in respect of the ordinary hours the Employee would have worked had the Employee not been on leave during the relevant period.
- Annual leave will not accrue during any period of unauthorised absence or unpaid leave, unless the unpaid absence/leave is deemed continuous service as provided for in the Fair Work Act.
- 18.6 Employees who have in excess of eight (8) weeks annual leave or (ten (10) weeks for a seven day Shift worker) can be directed to take annual leave. Arc will provide Employees with not less than eight (8) weeks' notice prior to the date they are required to take the excessive annual leave. Employees may also elect to cash out the excessive leave in accordance with sub clause 18.3.
- 18.7 Where a public holiday falls during a period of annual leave, on a day an Employee would have ordinarily worked had they not been on leave, the Employee will be credited with an additional day of leave.
- 18.8 An Employee who requires personal leave during any period of annual leave can apply for, and will be granted personal leave to replace the annual leave (this includes carers leave). Arc will need to be notified as soon as the need arises to take such leave and any claim to personal leave will be in accordance with clause 19 Personal Leave.
- 18.9 An Employee's accrued untaken annual leave entitlement will be paid out on termination of employment.

### 19 Personal Leave

- 19.1 Employees, other than Casual Employees, are entitled to accrue progressively throughout the year, ten (10) days paid Personal Leave per annum in accordance with the National Employment Standards.
- a) Employees on commencement date of this Agreement will have continued access to their accrued but untaken personal leave entitlement.

- 19.2 Personal leave is available to Employees when they are unfit for work due to personal illness or injury.
- 19.3 An Employee is entitled to use Personal Leave for Carer's leave to provide care or support to a member of the Employee's immediate family, or a member of the Employee's household, who requires care or support because of a personal illness, or personal injury, affecting the member; or an unexpected emergency affecting the member.
- 19.4 Untaken paid personal leave will accumulate from year to year. Accrued personal leave will not be paid out on termination.
- 19.5 An Employee who is absent from work and receiving workers compensation payments is not entitled to access personal leave.
- 19.6 Employees are required to notify Arc (their direct Supervisor) for the need to take the leave as soon as possible after becoming aware of the need for the leave. Where possible, Employees should advise Arc of the expected duration of the absence.
- 19.7 Employees are required to provide reasonable evidence to substantiate the need for personal leave. This evidence required is that which would satisfy a reasonable person that the leave is for the purpose for which it is being taken. Generally, reasonable evidence will be a medical certificate from a suitably qualified medical practitioner or a statutory declaration. Evidence will not be sought for absences of two (2) days or less unless it is requested by Arc. Where Arc requires evidence, this will be requested in advance or at the time the Employee notifies Arc they cannot attend work due to personal leave.

### 19.8 Family and Domestic Violence Leave

Arc recognises that employees may face situations of violence or abuse in their personal life that may affect their attendance or performance at work. Therefore, Arc is committed to provide support to employees that experience and are victims of domestic violence. In addition to the Employee Assistance Program (EAP) an Employee can:

- a) Access up to ten (10) days of additional paid leave per annum;
- b) All applications for Family and Domestic violence leave will be managed in a confidential manner by the Employee and Arc Human Resources and in accordance with Arc's policy requirements as amended from time to time.

## 20 Public Holidays

- 20.1 Public Holidays will be as specified or appointed as public holidays under the *Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972 (WA)*
- 20.2 An Employee is entitled to be absent on any public holiday, without loss of pay if regularly rostered to work ordinary hours on the day the public holiday falls, unless required to work on the public holiday. If required to work on the public holiday, the Employee will be paid at the rate of 270% of their base salary rate pay listed in Schedule 1 for the hours worked.
- Signal Technicians and Signal Maintainers who receive standby roster arrangements (clause 37) and work a designated public holiday when attending call outs will not receive any additional payments outlined in clause 20.2.
- 20.4 A Casual Employee is not entitled to leave in accordance with this clause.

### 21 Long Service Leave

- 21.1 Employees will be entitled to thirteen (13) weeks of long service leave upon completion of each ten (10) years of continuous service.
- 21.2 Where an Employee has completed at least seven (7) years continuous service with Arc:
- a) Pro rata long service leave may be taken with the approval of the Company:
- b) If an Employee's employment ceases, pro rata payment for long service leave will be granted, unless employment is terminated for serious misconduct.
- 21.3 In order to provide Employees with an opportunity to use long service leave in a way, which best suits their individual circumstances, where it is reasonable for the business to accommodate this an Employee may request to:
- a) Take long service leave in shorter periods as agreed with Arc.
- b) Receive half their entitlement and receive double the payment they would have ordinarily received.
- Receive half the entitlement over double the period of time they would have ordinarily received.
- d) Receive pay in lieu of taking their long service leave entitlement.
- 21.4 Long service leave will be taken at a time agreed between Arc and the Employee.
- 21.5 All payments made in respect to long service leave or of payments in lieu thereof will be at the Employees base salary rate of pay applicable to the Employee at the date of taking the leave.
- 21.6 Long service leave will not accrue during periods of unauthorised or unpaid leave.

### 22 Compassionate Leave

- 22.1 An Employee will be entitled to paid compassionate leave of up to three (3) days, on each permissible occasion, when a member of the Employees immediate family, or a member of the Employees household:
- a) contracts or develops a personal illness that poses a serious threat to his or her life or
- b) sustains a personal injury that poses a serious threat to his or her life or
- c) dies or
- d) a child is stillborn
- An employee will give Arc notice of the leave as soon as possible and advise the period, or expected period, of leave and if requested by Arc to provide evidence that would satisfy a reasonable person of the circumstances that require the leave.
- 22.3 Taking compassionate leave and payment for this leave is in accordance with the NES.

### 23 Parental Leave

- Employees will be entitled to unpaid parental leave in accordance with the National Employment Standards (NES).
- Where an Employee is entitled to unpaid parental leave in clause 23.1 and has at least 12 month's continuous service, they will be entitled to:
- a) Where the Employee is the primary caregiver, they will be entitled to fourteen (14) weeks (532 hours) of paid parental leave on the birth or adoption of the child, to be taken during the fifty-two (52) week unpaid leave period.
  - Paid parental leave can commence on the first working day after the birth or adoption of the child and will be paid to the Employee on the usual fortnightly basis.
- b) Where the Employee is the non-primary caregiver, they will be entitled to four (4) weeks (152 hours) of paid parental leave at the time of the birth or adoption. Employees may also access unpaid leave in accordance with NES, provided the total period of leave does not exceed the period provided for in the NES.
  - i) In cases of the death / serious incapacity of the primary carer (and upon the provision of satisfactory evidence, if required), the fourteen (14) weeks paid leave in clause 23.2(a) may be granted in place of the four (4) weeks paid leave.
- c) The paid leave entitlements within this clause is in addition to the NES and in accordance with Arc polices.
- 23.3 Employees returning from Parental leave have the right to request flexible working arrangements. Any such requests will be managed in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Fair Work Act.
- 23.4 Casual Employees will not be entitled to the paid leave entitlements in this clause.
- The provisions in this clause are applied in a way that does not contravene an antidiscrimination law, as defined in the Fair Work Act

### 24 Other Leave

### 24.1 Jury Service

- a) If the Employee is required to attend jury service during their ordinary hours, the Employee will be paid for attendance at jury service.
- b) An Employee will notify Arc as soon as practicable of the date(s) they are required to attend for Jury Service, and if requested provide reasonable proof of the need to attend Jury Service.

### 24.2 Defence Forces Reserve Training

a) An Employee will be entitled to leave for training with the Defence Force Reserves in accordance with the relevant legislation.

### 24.3 <u>Emergency Services Leave</u>

a) An Employee will be entitled to paid time off work (including any shift allowances) to participate in a voluntary emergency management activity (as defined in the Fair Work Act) subject to operational requirements.

- b) Employees must inform Arc in writing if they are a member of a recognised emergency management body (as defined in the Fair Work Act) as soon as practicable after they commence employment with Arc or notify Arc before the application is made.
- c) If an Employee wishes to take paid time off work to participate in a voluntary emergency management activity, they must inform Arc as soon as practicable the reason for the absence and the likely length of the absence, and may be required to provide evidence that they will be engaging in a voluntary emergency management activity.

### 24.4 Volunteer/Charity Involvement Leave

- a) Volunteer/Charity involvement involves time off work to participate voluntarily for community and/or charity organisations
- b) Employees are entitled to one (1) day paid leave each year to undertake volunteer/charity work and the leave does not accrue year to year.
- c) When requested, the Employee must provide evidence to the Employee's manager's satisfaction that the Employee was entitled to volunteer leave i.e. a letter from registered charity/organisation

### 24.5 Other Leave

a) Employees may also be eligible to take other forms of leave in accordance with Arc policies and the NES.

### 25 Stand Down

- 25.1 Arc may stand down Employees without pay for any time during which Arc determines that an Employee cannot be usefully employed through a stoppage of work for which Arc cannot reasonably be held responsible.
- 25.2 Arc will advise the affected Employees, and if the Employees choose, their nominated representative before implementation of the stand down. This advice is to be provided at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the stand down commencing. Arc will keep affected Employees updated on the expected duration of the stand down. Employees are entitled to seek alternative temporary employment during this time, and Arc will not unreasonably refuse such a request.
- Arc will pursue all reasonable means in providing the affected Employees with alternate duties prior to initiating the stand down. Where no alternative duties are allocated Arc may require Employees to undertake training and/or re-accreditation.
- 25.4 During the stand down period, Employees can elect to take accrued annual leave.

# 26 Termination of Employment

26.1 Either Arc or an Employee may terminate employment by providing a written notice period (or payment in lieu of notice) of:

Employment Type	Required period of notice
Casual Employee	1 day
Probation Employee	1 week
Full time or Part time Employee	4 wooks
Fixed and Maximum Term Employee	4 weeks

26.2 Arc will be required to provide Full time and Part time Employees an additional week of

- notice to Employees aged forty five (45) years of age or older who have completed at least two (2) years continuous service with the Arc.
- A period of notice given by an Employee who has resigned can only be reduced by mutual agreement.
- 26.4 If the Employee does not work some or all of the required notice in this clause, Arc may withhold an amount in lieu of the remaining period of notice from any monies otherwise owing to the Employee as permitted by law.
- 26.5 Nothing in this clause prevents Arc terminating an Employee's employment without notice for serious misconduct.
- Arc has the right to suspend an Employee with base pay for the purposes of investigating a serious disciplinary matter.
- A Fixed or Maximum term Employee employed for a fixed or maximum period of time may be terminated without the need for notice of termination to be given at the end of such fixed or maximum period.
- 26.8 On termination of employment, or earlier during the notice period on request, Employees must return all the company property to Arc.

# 27 Redeployment & Redundancy

- 27.1 Redundancy occurs where Arc needs to make organisational changes which leads to a definite decision to no longer require an employee's position to be done by anyone, except where this is due to the ordinary and customary turnover of labour.
- 27.2 In appropriate circumstances, Arc may choose to seek expressions of interest from Employees to volunteer for redundancy before moving to an involuntary redundancy process.

### 27.3 Redeployment & Retraining

- a) Arc may redeploy an Employee into a role that the Employee is capable of performing. An Employee may need to undergo reasonable training as part of any redeployment.
- b) Where Arc offers an Employee an other suitable position the employee will not be entitled to the severance payments outlined in clause 27.4.

### 27.4 <u>Severance Payments</u>

a) In addition to the notice of termination entitlements outlined in Clause 26 - Termination of Employment, and subject to sub clause 27.3, if an Employee's position is redundant they will be eligible for redundancy entitlements in accordance with the following scale upon each completed year of service with Arc.

Employee's period of continuous service	Redundancy pay
At least 1 year but less than 2 years	4 weeks
At least 2 years but less than 3 years	6 weeks
At least 3 years but less than 4 years	7 weeks
At least 4 years but less than 5 years	8 weeks
At least 5 years but less than 6 years	10 weeks

At least 6 years but less than 7 years	11 weeks
At least 7 years but less than 8 years	13 weeks
At least 8 years but less than 9 years	14 weeks
At least 9 years	16 weeks

- b) Severance payments will be calculated on the applicable base rates of pay at thirty (38) hours per week for Full time Employees and on a pro rata basis for Part Time Employees as outlined in Schedule 1 of this agreement.
- 27.5 This entire clause does not apply to Employees employed on a Casual, Fixed or Maximum Term basis or Employees covered by the Redundancy provisions in Schedule 3 of this Agreement.

### 28 Unauthorised Absence

Any unauthorised absence from work by an Employee may not be paid by Arc. Employees may be subject to disciplinary action for any unauthorised absences.

### 29 Uniforms

- 29.1 Arc will provide Employees uniforms free of charge in accordance with the applicable Arc policy. Employees will also be provided with the necessary PPE relevant to their role.
- 29.2 Employee's uniform and PPE will be replaced on a fair wear and tear basis, as agreed between Arc and an Employee.

### 30 Policies & Procedures

30.1 All Employees are required to comply with Arc's standards, policies and procedures as varied from time to time. A copy of Arc's standards, policies and procedures can be found on the company intranet. Arc policies and procedures do not form part of this Agreement.

### 31 Dispute Resolution Procedure

- Where Arc and an Employee are in dispute about any matters arising under this Agreement or in relation to the National Employment Standards, the following procedure will be followed.
- In the first instance as soon as it is practicable the Employee(s) concerned will raise the concern with their Supervisor/Manager who will respond within seven (7) days.
- The Employee(s) may be represented by a representative of their choosing to assist with resolution at any stage of this process.
- 31.4 If the concern is not resolved by the Supervisor/Manager or where it is inappropriate to discuss with the Supervisor/Manager, the concern will be referred to the Manager next in line in writing, who will respond in seven (7) days.
- 31.5 If the above procedure is followed and the concern remains unresolved, the matter will be referred to Human Resources for further assistance and resolution.

- 31.6 If the concern is then not settled it can be referred by either party to Fair Work Commission for conciliation.
- 31.7 The parties are committed to resolving all matters of concern by conciliation.
- The matter may then proceed to arbitration at the request of either party, once the parties have exhausted all attempts to conciliate an agreed outcome.
- During the period of dispute, from the time when the matter first arises until the time of resolution, normal work will continue, unless the performance of the normal work would place at risk the health and safety or wellbeing of the employee(s) concerned, or Arc elects to stand down the employee(s) on pay while the matter is being investigated. No party will suffer any prejudice as to the resolution of this matter by reason only that normal work continues as required by this process.
- 31.10 Should an employee be required to attend conciliation or an arbitration hearing/ matter before a tribunal, any resulting time off work will be granted without loss of ordinary pay.

# 32 Individual Flexibility Agreement

- Arc and an Employee can agree to make an Individual Flexibility Agreement (**IFA**) to vary the effect of terms of this Agreement where Arc and the Employee genuinely agree to the arrangement.
- 32.2 Arc will ensure the IFA agreed to:
- a) is in writing and identifies the name of both parties;
- b) is signed by both parties (if the Employee is under eighteen (18) years of age signed by a parent or guardian of the Employee);
- c) is about permitted matters and does not contain unlawful terms;
- d) includes details of which terms will be varied and how they will be varied; and
- e) results in the Employee being better off overall than they would have been if the IFA had not been made.
- 32.3 The terms which the parties may agree to vary are those concerning:
- a) arrangements for when work is performed;
- b) overtime rates;
- c) penalty rates; and
- d) allowances.
- 32.4 Arc will provide a copy of the IFA to the Employee within fourteen (14) days after it is agreed to.
- Arc or the Employee may terminate an IFA by giving not more than twenty-eight (28) days written notice to the other party, unless the parties mutually agree to a lesser period.

### 33 Consultation

This clause has application where Arc has made a definite decision to introduce a major change to production, program, organisation, structure or technology in relation to its enterprise that is likely to have a significant effect on the Employee/s; or proposes to

- introduce a change to the regular roster or ordinary hours of work of the Employee/s. For the purpose of this clause:
- a) Where Arc has made a definite decision to introduce a major change that is likely to have significant effect, it will consult with affected Employees prior to proceeding with the implementation of the major change.
- b) An Employee may appoint a representative and Arc will recognise the representative once advised by the Employee for the purposes of the process outlined in this clause; and
- c) Arc is not required to disclose any confidential or commercially sensitive information to relevant Employees or their representatives.

### 33.2 Major Change

- a) Arc must notify the relevant Employees of the definite decision to introduce the major change. As soon as practicable after making its decision, Arc must discuss with the relevant Employees the introduction of the change, the effect the change is likely to have on the Employees and any measures it is taking to avert or mitigate the adverse effect of the change on the Employees.
- b) For the purposes of the discussion, Arc will provide, in writing (if necessary), to the relevant Employees:
  - i) All relevant information about the change including the nature of the change proposed; and
  - ii) Information about the expected effects of the change on the Employees; and
  - iii) Any other matters likely to affect the Employees.
- c) Arc must give prompt and genuine consideration to matters raised about the major change by the relevant Employees.

### 33.3 Change to regular roster or ordinary hours of work

- a) Arc must notify the relevant Employees of the proposed change to regular roster or ordinary hours of work. As soon as practicable after proposing to introduce the change, Arc must:
  - i) Discuss with the relevant Employees the introduction of the change;
  - ii) For the purposes of the discussion, provide the relevant Employees all relevant information about the change, including the nature of the change and information on the effects of the change on the Employees;
  - iii) Invite the relevant Employees to give their views about the impact of the change (including any impact in relation to their family or caring responsibilities); and
  - iv) Give prompt and genuine consideration to matters raised about the change by the relevant Employees.
- Relevant Employees means the Employees who may be affected by a change in sub clause 33.1.

### 34 Inclement Weather

34.1 Inclement weather will be managed in accordance with relevant Arc policies and procedures as amended from time to time. However, where Arc has not implemented a policy or procedure which manages Inclement Weather the following process will be utilised:

- a) Step 1 Prior to starting work, the person in charge of the worksite will obtain relevant meteorological information (as made available to them by Arc) to be used in the pre start work brief.
- b) Step 2 All employees are to take regard to the weather information with regard to the potential impact of inclement weather on the planned work at the pre start work brief, in conjunction with any available health and safety representative.
- c) Step 3 The person in charge of the work site will interpret the information and where necessary revise the day's work plan to mitigate the risks associated with the inclement weather in conjunction with any available health and safety representative and Employees.
- d) If the above process fails to reach agreement with respect to the way in which work is to be undertaken during the inclement weather (that is a majority of the employees don't agree), the person in charge of the worksite will contact either the Head of Works Delivery (or their nominated authorised representative) or Head of Governance and Risk (or their nominated authorised representative) for resolution and who will make a final decision.
- There will be no deduction of wages for any working time lost due to inclement weather. In the event that a complete shift is lost due to the inclement weather, the Employee will be paid for the Ordinary Hours rostered at the applicable rate of pay or a minimum of four (4) hours at the applicable overtime rate for overtime shifts.

# 35 Disciplinary Matters

- 35.1 The disciplinary measures that Arc may take against an Employee may include:
- a) A verbal caution;
- b) Written warning;
- c) Termination of Employment, with or without termination notice as applicable.
- Where Arc makes a decision to formally investigate a disciplinary concern or allegation(s) of misconduct, pending the outcome of the investigation process employees may be;
- a) Suspended without loss of pay (overtime excluded); or
- b) Placed on alternative duties without loss of pay; or
- Re-assessed and continue with normal duties if suitable and applicable given the circumstances.
- Any internal investigation of a matter or incident by Arc that may lead to disciplinary action being taken must apply the principles of natural justice, which can include:
- a) Employee being advised of any allegation of misconduct or serious misconduct for which Arc chooses to investigate, and provide the Employee with relevant information and the opportunity to respond to such allegations.
- b) The option for the Employee to have a support person at formal disciplinary meetings if requested by the employee.
- c) Disciplinary inquiries and investigations to be kept confidential by all involved.
- 35.4 Disciplinary matters will be managed in accordance with Arc policies and procedures as amended from time to time.

### 36 Workplace Representation

- Workplace Representatives will be granted up to five (5) days of workplace representation leave each calendar year, non-cumulative, to attend courses conducted by the Union or a training provider nominated by the Union, that are designed to provide skills and competencies that will assist the Workplace Representative perform their functions, including contributing to the prompt resolution of disputes or grievances in the workplace.
- 36.2 The granting of workplace representation leave will be subject to the following provisions;
- a) Any request for leave is in writing and includes the nature, content and duration of the training course to be attended;
- b) Requests for leave are provided to Arc at least four (4) weeks prior to the proposed training;
- c) The taking of the leave will not have any adverse effects on the operational requirements of the Arc business; and
- d) Has the approval of Union and Arc.
- 36.3 Eligible workplace representation leave will be paid at the Employee's base rate of pay and applicable all purposes allowances for their Ordinary Hours.

### 37 Standby Roster Arrangement

The provisions of this clause will only apply to Signal Technicians and Signal Maintainers.

- 37.1 Standby Roster Arrangement is a callout arrangement for Signal Technicians and Signal Maintainers where the hours outside ordinary rostered working hours are rostered in weekly periods and compensated by way of block payments listed in Schedule 1. It is paid in lieu of on call allowance (clause 17.5) and overtime (clause 12) that might otherwise have applied.
- 37.2 Employees placed on standby rosters are required to make themselves available during the standby period to be recalled to work as necessary to perform call out work as directed.
- 37.3 Employees working on the standby roster in accordance with this clause will be paid the prescribed block payments set out in Schedule 1. Employees will be paid the applicable block payments where the roster coverage criteria are met.

# 37.4 <u>General Provisions</u>

- a) All Signal Technicians and Signal Maintainers in each Roster Zone are required to participate, in the standby roster.
- b) Standby rosters will be shared equally amongst the participating Signal Technicians and Signal Maintainers in each Roster Zone, wherever practicable.
- c) Arc will determine when a Signal Technician or Signal Maintainer is competent to participate on the standby roster.
- d) Arc will determine the standby roster cycle for each Roster Zone based on operational requirements.
- e) When there is more than the minimum number of Signal Technicians or Signal Maintainers within a Roster Zone required to satisfy the minimum roster cycle as determined by Arc an Employee may request to not participate on the standby roster, subject to Arc's agreement.

### 37.5 Standby Roster

- a) Employees will be rostered on a weekly standby roster for periods of one week at a time.
  - i) The weekly standby roster period will extend from end of shift from the first rostered day until start of shift following the last rostered day with the exception of a public holiday following the last rostered day in which case the standby roster period will commence from 7am on the public holiday morning. The standby roster period times in this sub clause can move to account for Employees rostered ordinary hours, as nominated by Arc. The days of standby roster may be changed in roster zones by majority mutual agreement of Employees in that zone.
  - ii) For the purposes of administration and payment, the standby roster week is divided into "roster blocks" as detailed in Clause 37.6.
- b) Employees may due to illness (or other reasons) arrange to change the standby roster week or part thereof (roster blocks) with another Employee (who holds suitable competencies) within the Roster Zone provided that the Employee concerned advises their immediate Supervisor for approval, and once approved notifies Network Control and any other nominated person of the change.
- c) Employee's who have worked sixteen (16) hours continuously due to the standby roster will not be required to work any further hours, until the prescribed rest break has been taken. Arc may require another Employee to be called out for any further necessary work and paid in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.
- d) Employees called out to work while on the standby roster must carry out all necessary test procedures and other work associated with rectifying a fault or the call out reason.
- e) Non-availability for standby roster:
  - i) In the event of an Employee being unavailable to perform the standby roster block / blocks, the Employee must notify their immediate supervisor and work with them to arrange for another Employee to work the relevant roster block / blocks. The Supervisor will ultimately be responsible for this.
  - ii) In the event an Employee is unavailable to perform any part of the standby roster, they will forgo the standby payments for the period or specific blocks the employee is unavailable.
- f) An employee who is unfit for work, on personal leave, or annual leave, for a shift preceding or following a roster block cannot be placed on roster for that block, and will not be able to claim the associated block payments, unless directed otherwise.
- g) If an employee is working a scheduled overtime shift the employee cannot claim the block payment for the block that the employee is on duty.

### 37.6 Standby Roster Payment

- a) When an Employee is working on the standby roster the Employee will be paid the prescribed Block Payments for each week on standby. These amounts will be paid as follows:
  - i) The standby roster week will be arranged in roster blocks with each weeknight, Monday to Friday, having two (2) by 7.75 hour blocks (3:30pm to 11:15pm to 7am) and the appropriate weeknight block payment will apply for each full weeknight block completed on roster.
  - ii) The standby roster for weekends and Public Holidays will be arranged in roster blocks containing three (3), eight (8) hour blocks.
  - iii) On prescribed public holidays the day will be treated the same as a weekend day with three (3), eight (8) hour blocks and paid in accordance with the weekend block payments (payment of public holiday block will be equal to the weekend block payment only).

iv) The 8-hour blocks referred to extend to:

From	То
7am Saturday	3pm Saturday
3pm Saturday	11pm Saturday
11pm Saturday	7am Sunday
7am Sunday	3pm Sunday
3pm Sunday	11pm Sunday
11pm Sunday	7am Monday

When working the roster the appropriate weekend block payment will apply for each full weekend block completed on roster.

- b) If an Employee is not available for all or any part of the standby roster blocks, they will not receive the appropriate block payment.
- c) The standby roster period times listed in 37.5(a) and 37.6(a) can move to account for Employees rostered ordinary hours, as nominated by Arc.

### 37.7 <u>Management Organised Replacement Employee</u>

- a) This clause does not apply if Employees have organised a swap of the standby roster in advance of commencing the standby roster, and this swap is approved by the Employees immediate supervisor.
- b) Should Arc management be required to arrange a replacement Employee to complete the Standby roster, the replacement Employee will become the replacement for the remainder of the weeknight (up to 2 blocks) or for the remainder of the weekend Saturday or Sunday (up to 3 blocks).
- c) For each:
  - Weeknight Monday to Friday the replacement Employee will be paid the appropriate weeknight block for each 7.75 hour weeknight block, or part thereof, when required to be on standby.
  - ii) Weekend day Saturday or Sunday the replacement Employee will be paid the appropriate weekend block payment for each eight (8) hour block, or any part thereof, when required to be on standby.
  - iii) However if the replacement Employee is actually called out they will forgo entitlement to block payment and receive overtime payment in accordance with the applicable provisions of this Agreement. If a single callout extends from one block to the next, the payment will be treated as a continuous single callout with no deduction of the second block payment.

### 37.8 Working away from home depot

- a) Employees may be required to relieve in another Roster Zone.
- b) If an Employee is required to relieve in another Roster Zone the block payments applicable for that Roster Zone the Employee being actually worked will be paid or the payment for their home location whichever is the higher and all associated travel costs.

# 38 Former BRE Arrangements

- 38.1 The provisions of Schedule 3 will only apply to Employees employed with Arc before 1<sup>st</sup>
  January 2018 on the BRE Agreement in the positions of Signal Maintainer, Signal Technician,
  Communications Technician and Per Way Patroller and who continue to be employed since the commencement date of the Agreement.
- 38.2 The provisions Schedule 3 do not apply to any other Employee, including Employee's commencing employment on or after the commencement date of the 1<sup>st</sup> January 2018.
- To avoid any doubt, where an entitlement applies in Schedule 3 to a particular Employee, the provisions of Schedule will apply and override any other related provision contained in this Agreement.

# Schedule 1 – Rates of Pay

Base Rates of Pay:	On Commer	On Commencement date		January 2023		January 2024		ry 2025
Position	Base Rates Annually	Base Rates Hourly						
SIGNALS	-							
Signals Level 1	\$70,978	\$35.92	\$72,934	\$36.91	\$74,950	\$37.93	\$77,005	\$38.97
Signals Level 2	\$76,728	\$38.83	\$78,842	\$39.90	\$81,016	\$41.00	\$83,249	\$42.13
Signals Level 3	\$79,870	\$40.42	\$82,083	\$41.54	\$84,336	\$42.68	\$86,648	\$43.85
Signals Level 4	\$83,881	\$42.45	\$86,193	\$43.62	\$88,545	\$44.81	\$90,975	\$46.04
Signals Level 5	\$93,425	\$47.28	\$95,994	\$48.58	\$98,642	\$49.92	\$101,349	\$51.29
Signals Level 6	\$101,310	\$51.27	\$104,096	\$52.68	\$106,961	\$54.13	\$109,905	\$55.62
Signals Level 7	\$106,388	\$53.84	\$109,312	\$55.32	\$112,316	\$56.84	\$115,418	\$58.41
Signals Level 8	\$111,703	\$56.53	\$114,766	\$58.08	\$117,947	\$59.69	\$121,188	\$61.33
COMMUNICATIONS								
Communications Level 1	\$88,762	\$44.92	\$91,212	\$46.16	\$93,702	\$47.42	\$96,271	\$48.72
Communications Level 2	\$93,425	\$47.28	\$95,994	\$48.58	\$98,642	\$49.92	\$101,349	\$51.29
Communications Level 3	\$101,310	\$51.27	\$104,096	\$52.68	\$106,961	\$54.13	\$109,905	\$55.62
Communications Level 4	\$106,566	\$53.93	\$109,490	\$55.41	\$112,513	\$56.94	\$115,596	\$58.50
Communications Level 5	\$111,881	\$56.62	\$114,964	\$58.18	\$118,125	\$59.78	\$121,386	\$61.43

Base Rates of Pay:	On Commencement date		Janua	January 2023 January 2024 January 2025		January 2023		ry 2025
Position	Base Rates Annually	Base Rates Hourly	Base Rates Annually	Base Rates Hourly	Base Rates Annually	Base Rates Hourly	Base Rates Annually	Base Rates Hourly
PATROLLER								
Patroller Level 1	\$71,689	\$36.28	\$73,665	\$37.28	\$75,701	\$38.31	\$77,775	\$39.36
Patroller Level 2	\$81,016	\$41.00	\$83,249	\$42.13	\$85,541	\$43.29	\$87,892	\$44.48
Patroller Level 3	\$86,450	\$43.75	\$88,821	\$44.95	\$91,271	\$46.19	\$93,781	\$47.46
Patroller Level 4	\$90,770	\$45.94	\$93,267	\$47.20	\$95,836	\$48.50	\$98,464	\$49.83
WELDER								
Welder Level 1	\$65,722	\$33.26	\$67,520	\$34.17	\$69,377	\$35.11	\$71,294	\$36.08
Welder Level 2	\$69,002	\$34.92	\$70,899	\$35.88	\$72,855	\$36.87	\$74,851	\$37.88
Welder Level 3	\$86,470	\$43.76	\$88,861	\$44.97	\$91,291	\$46.20	\$93,801	\$47.47
Welder Level 4	\$95,638	\$48.40	\$98,266	\$49.73	\$100,974	\$51.10	\$103,760	\$52.51
TRACK								
Track Level 1	\$65,722	\$33.26	\$67,520	\$34.17	\$69,377	\$35.11	\$71,294	\$36.08
Track Level 2	\$68,626	\$34.73	\$70,523	\$35.69	\$72,460	\$36.67	\$74,456	\$37.68
Track Level 3	\$72,065	\$36.47	\$74,041	\$37.47	\$76,076	\$38.50	\$78,171	\$39.56
Track Level 4	\$76,076	\$38.50	\$78,171	\$39.56	\$80,324	\$40.65	\$82,518	\$41.76
Track Level 5	\$80,818	\$40.90	\$83,032	\$42.02	\$85,324	\$43.18	\$87,655	\$44.36

Base Rates of Pay:	On Commen	On Commencement date		January 2023 January 2024		Janua	ry 2025	
Position	Base Rates Annually	Base Rates Hourly	Base Rates Annually	Base Rates Hourly	Base Rates Annually	Base Rates Hourly	Base Rates Annually	Base Rates Hourly
MOBILE PLANT OPERATOR								
Operator Level 1	\$63,331	\$32.05	\$65,070	\$32.93	\$66,868	\$33.84	\$68,706	\$34.77
Operator Level 2	\$66,512	\$33.66	\$68,330	\$34.58	\$70,207	\$35.53	\$72,144	\$36.51
Operator Level 3	\$69,832	\$35.34	\$71,749	\$36.31	\$73,725	\$37.31	\$75,760	\$38.34
Operator Level 4	\$75,463	\$38.19	\$77,538	\$39.24	\$79,672	\$40.32	\$81,866	\$41.43
Operator Level 5	\$79,257	\$40.11	\$81,431	\$41.21	\$83,684	\$42.35	\$85,976	\$43.51
PLANT								
Plant Level 1	\$69,832	\$35.34	\$71,749	\$36.31	\$73,725	\$37.31	\$75,760	\$38.34
Plant Level 2	\$98,919	\$50.06	\$101,645	\$51.44	\$104,432	\$52.85	\$107,317	\$54.31
Plant Level 3	\$103,700	\$52.48	\$106,546	\$53.92	\$109,490	\$55.41	\$112,494	\$56.93
Plant Level 4	\$108,720	\$55.02	\$111,723	\$56.54	\$114,786	\$58.09	\$117,947	\$59.69
ELECTRICAL								
Electrical Level 1	\$69,832	\$35.34	\$71,749	\$36.31	\$73,725	\$37.31	\$75,760	\$38.34
Electrical Level 2	\$88,979	\$45.03	\$91,430	\$46.27	\$93,939	\$47.54	\$96,528	\$48.85
Electrical Level 3	\$96,488	\$48.83	\$99,136	\$50.17	\$101,863	\$51.55	\$104,669	\$52.97
Electrical Level 4	\$101,329	\$51.28	\$104,115	\$52.69	\$106,981	\$54.14	\$109,905	\$55.62

	On Commen	cement Date	Janua	ry 2023	Janua	ry 2024	Januai	y 2025
Apprentice Year	Base Rates Annually	Base Rates Hourly						
1 <sup>st</sup> Year Apprentice	\$43,928	\$22.23	\$45,146	\$22.85	\$46,385	\$23.47	\$47,656	\$24.12
2 <sup>nd</sup> Year Apprentice	\$51,915	\$26.27	\$53,354	\$27.00	\$54,818	\$27.74	\$56,321	\$28.50
3 <sup>rd</sup> Year Apprentice	\$59,902	\$30.32	\$61,562	\$31.16	\$63,252	\$32.01	\$64,986	\$32.89
4 <sup>th</sup> Year Apprentice	\$70,286	\$35.57	\$72,233	\$36.56	\$74,215	\$37.56	\$76,250	\$38.59

### **Adult Apprentices**

- An apprentice who is 21 years of age or older will be paid no less than the 3<sup>rd</sup> Year Apprentice Rate.
- Existing employees who enter into an apprenticeship with Arc will have their substantive rate of pay, at the time of entering into the apprenticeship, maintained until such a time as the rate for the position they occupy exceeds the maintained rate of pay.

# Standby Roster Arrangements (Eligible Signal Technician and Signal Maintainers only):

# Rates on and from 1 January 2022:

Signal Technicians Payments Roster zone:	Max weekly payment	Weeknight block	Weekend Block
West - Midland	\$1,974.57	\$109.70	\$146.27
West - Northam	\$1,928.10	\$107.12	\$142.82
West - Narngulu	\$1,753.88	\$97.43	\$129.91
South - Picton, Kwinana & Pinjarra	\$1,753.88	\$97.43	\$129.91
East - Merredin	\$1,928.10	\$107.12	\$142.82
East - Kalgoorlie	\$2,137.78	\$118.77	\$158.35

Signal Maintainer Payments Roster zone:	Max weekly payment	Weeknight block	Weekend Block
West - Midland	\$1,222.01	\$67.89	\$90.52
West - Northam	\$1,189.42	\$66.08	\$88.10
West - Narngulu	\$1,080.81	\$60.04	\$80.06
South - Picton, Kwinana & Pinjarra	\$1,080.81	\$60.04	\$80.06
East - Merredin	\$1,189.42	\$66.08	\$88.10
East - Kalgoorlie	\$1,319.78	\$73.32	\$97.76

### Signals

Minimum entry level requirements for all classifications are -

- Unrestricted WA Drivers licence
- · Category 3 Rail Medical
- Attain and maintain a Track Access Permit to the level of Protection Officer
- Equivalent experience will be considered for appointment to the appropriate level as determined by Arc

In this stream Arc Infrastructure will source and provide adequate training for all employees in these classifications which is necessary to the operational needs of the business. Where available and appropriate every effort will be made to ensure the training provided links to a nationally recognised Quality or Unit Competency.

Level	Position Title	Requirements  Competencies, Qualifications, and other requirements
Signals Level 1	Signal Maintainer	<ul> <li>Minimum Entry Requirements Plus:</li> <li>Basic electrical principles knowledge</li> <li>Provide First Aid</li> <li>Low Voltage Rescue</li> </ul>
Signals Level 2	Experienced Signal Maintainer	<ul> <li>Per L1 Plus:</li> <li>&gt;2 years' experience</li> <li>Electrical Signalling Fundamentals</li> <li>Rigid Lever Operated Points</li> </ul>
Signals Level 3	Advanced Signal Maintainer / Signal Electrician	<ul> <li>Per L2 Plus:</li> <li>&gt;5 years' experience</li> <li>MR-B Drivers Licence</li> </ul>

		<ul> <li>Or</li> <li>Minimum Entry Requirements</li> <li>Unrestricted Electrical Workers Licence</li> <li>Provide First Aid</li> <li>Low Voltage Rescue</li> </ul>
Signals Level 4	Senior Signal Maintainer/ Relief Signal Technician	Per L3 Plus:  Appointment by Arc  >7 years' experience  Or  Basic Electrical Signalling
Signals Level 5	Signal Technician	Per L4 Plus:  • Appointment By Arc
Signals Level 6	Experienced Signal Technician	<ul> <li>Per L5 Plus:</li> <li>&gt; 2 years' experience</li> <li>Region and Equipment Specific Training (eg. Microlok, GCP, Axle Counter, EC4 etc)</li> </ul>
Signals Level 7	Advanced Signal Technician	Per L6 Plus:  • >5 years' experience
Signals Level 8	Senior Signal Technician	<ul> <li>Per L7 Plus:</li> <li>Appointment by Arc</li> <li>&gt;7 years' experience</li> <li>Leadership development training</li> </ul>

### Communications

- Unrestricted WA Drivers licence
- Category 3 Rail Medical
- Attain and maintain a Track Access Permit to the level Supervised Worker
- Equivalent experience will be considered for appointment to the appropriate level as determined by Arc
  In this stream Arc Infrastructure will source and provide adequate training for all employees in these classifications which is necessary to the operational needs of the business. Where available and appropriate every effort will be made to ensure the training provided links to a nationally recognised Qualification or Unit or Competency.

Level	Position Title	Requirements Competencies, Qualifications, and other requirements
Communications Level 1	Communications Maintainer	<ul> <li>Minimum Entry Requirements Plus:         <ul> <li>Be a registered cabling provider for open cabling work in accordance with ACMA requirements;</li> <li>Possess Cable jointing qualification or demonstrate equivalent experience;</li> <li>Possess or work towards obtaining Optic Fibre jointing qualification.</li> <li>Provide First Aid Training.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
Communications Level 2	Communications Technician	<ul> <li>Per L1 Plus:         <ul> <li>&gt;2 years' experience</li> <li>ICT30519 Certificate III in Telecommunications Technology or equivalent</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
Communications Level 3	Experienced Communications Technician	Per L2 Plus:  • >5 years' experience

Communications Level 4	Advanced Communications Technician	Per L3 Plus:
Communications Level 5	Senior Communication Technician	Per L4 Plus:  Appointment By Arc  Cert IV in Telecommunications Network Engineering  Leadership development training

### Services

- Unrestricted WA Drivers licence
- Category 1 Rail Medical
- Attain and maintain a Track Access Permit to the level PO
- Equivalent experience will be considered for appointment to the appropriate level as determined by Arc In this stream Arc Infrastructure will source and provide adequate training for all employees in these classifications which is necessary to the operational needs of the business. Where available and appropriate every effort will be made to ensure the training provided links to a nationally recognised competency.

Level	Position Title	Requirements  Competencies, Qualifications, and other requirements
Patroller Level 1	Perway Patroller	<ul> <li>Minimum Entry Requirements Plus:         <ul> <li>TLI27121 - Certificate II in Rail Infrastructure or equivalent</li> <li>TLIC3025 - Operate road/rail vehicle or equivalent</li> </ul> </li> <li>Track Access Permit to the level of Protection Officer Track Vehicle</li> </ul>

Patroller Level 2	Experienced Perway Patroller	<ul> <li>Per L1 Plus:</li> <li>&gt;2 years' experience</li> <li>TLI37121 - Certificate III in Rail Infrastructure or equivalent</li> </ul>
Patroller Level 3	Advanced Perway Patroller	Per L2 Plus:  • >5 years' experience
Patroller Level 4	Senior Perway Patroller	Per L3 Plus:  Appointment by Arc  Certificate III Rail Infrastructure
Welder Level 1	Perway Welder Offsider	<ul> <li>Minimum Entry Requirements Plus:</li> <li>Enrolment in TLI27121 - Certificate II in Rail Infrastructure</li> <li>Provide First Aid</li> <li>MR-B Drivers Licence</li> </ul>
Welder Level 2	Experienced Perway Welder Offsider	Per L1 Plus:
Welder Level 3	Perway Welder	<ul> <li>Minimum Entry Requirements Plus:         <ul> <li>TLI27121 - Certificate II in Rail Infrastructure or equivalent</li> <li>Trade Qualification (Fabrication) or recognised formal competency</li> <li>MR-B Drivers Licence</li> <li>Provide First Aid</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
Welder Level 4	Advanced Perway Welder	Per L3 Plus:  Appointment by Arc  > 5 years' experience  TLI37121 Certificate III in Rail Infrastructure

#### Track

- Unrestricted WA Drivers licence
- Category 3 Rail Medical
- Attain and maintain a Track Access Permit to the level Supervised Worker
- Equivalent experience will be considered for appointment to the appropriate level as determined by Arc In this stream Arc Infrastructure will source and provide adequate training for all employees in these classifications which is necessary to the operational needs of the business. Where available and appropriate every effort will be made to ensure the training provided links to a nationally recognised competency.

Level	Position Title	Requirements  Competencies, Qualifications, and other requirements
Track Level 1	Track Maintainer	Minimum Entry Requirements Plus:  ■ Enrolment in TLI27121 - Certificate II in Rail Infrastructure
Track Level 2	Experienced Track Maintainer	Per L1 Plus:
Track Level 3	Advanced Track Maintainer	Per L2 Plus:

Track Level 4	Senior Track Maintainer	Per L3 Plus:  Appointment by Arc  >5 years' experience  TLI37121 Certificate III in Rail Infrastructure
Track Level 5	Leading Hand	Per L4 Plus:  • Appointment By Arc

#### Plant

- Unrestricted WA Drivers licence HR-B
- Category 3 Rail Medical
- Attain and maintain a Track Access Permit to the level Supervised Worker
- Equivalent experience will be considered for appointment to the appropriate level as determined by Arc In this stream Arc Infrastructure will source and provide adequate training for all employees in these classifications which is necessary to the operational needs of the business. Where available and appropriate every effort will be made to ensure the training provided links to a nationally recognised competency.

Level	Position Title	Requirements  Competencies, Qualifications, and other requirements
Operator Level 1	Plant Operator	Minimum Entry Requirements Plus:     Front End Loader and Skid Steer Operations Qualification
Operator Level 2	Experienced Plant Operator	Per L1 Plus:  Excavator Operations  Back Hoe Operations

Operator Level 3	Advanced Plant Operator	<ul> <li>Per L2 Plus:</li> <li>&gt;2 years' experience Road/Rail Vehicle Operations</li> <li>Cat 1 Rail Medical</li> </ul>
Operator Level 4	Hi Rail Plant Operator	Per Level 3 Plus:  • >2 years' Hi Rail Machine Operations experience
Operator Level 5	Advanced Hi Rail Plant Operator	Per Level 4 Plus:
Plant Level 1	Plant Trades Assistant/Service Person	<ul> <li>Minimum Entry Requirements Plus:</li> <li>&gt;2 years' experience</li> <li>Operator Level 1 and 2 as per above classification</li> </ul>
Plant Level 2	Plant Fitter	Per Level 1 Plus:  • Engineering Trade Qualification/s
Plant Level 3	Experienced Plant Fitter	Per Level 2 Plus:  • >2 years' experience on Rail and/or Construction equipment
Plant Level 4	Advanced Plant Fitter	Per Level 3 Plus:  Appointment by Arc  > 5 years' experience

### Electrical

- Unrestricted WA Drivers licence C class
- Category 3 Rail Medical
- Attain and maintain a Track Access Permit to the level Supervised Worker
- Equivalent experience will be considered for appointment to the appropriate level as determined by Arc
  In this stream Arc Infrastructure will source and provide adequate training for all employees in these classifications which is necessary to the operational needs of the business. Where available and appropriate every effort will be made to ensure the training provided links to a nationally recognised competency.

Level	Position Title	Requirements  Competencies, Qualifications, and other requirements
Electrical Level 1	Trades Assistant	<ul> <li>Minimum Entry Requirements Plus:</li> <li>Basic electrical principles knowledge</li> <li>Provide First Aid</li> <li>Low Voltage Rescue</li> </ul>
Electrical Level 2	Electrician	<ul> <li>Minimum Entry Requirements Plus:</li> <li>UEE30820 – Certificate III in Electrotechnology or equivalent</li> </ul>
Electrical Level 3	Experienced Electrician	Per L2 Plus:  • > 2 years' signalling experience including Installation and Commissioning Process
Electrical Level 4	Advanced Electrician	Per L3 Plus:  • By Appointment

## Schedule 3 – Former BRE Arrangements

The provisions of this Schedule will only apply to Employees employed with Arc before the 1<sup>st</sup> January 2018 on the BRE Agreement in the positions of Signal Maintainer, Signal Technician, Communications Technician and Per Way Patroller and who continue to be employed since the commencement date of the Agreement. The provisions of this Schedule do not apply to any other Employee including Employee's commencing employment on or after the commencement date of 1<sup>st</sup> January 2018.

- 1.1 Redundancy occurs when Arc decides that the job the employee is engaged to perform is to no longer be done by anyone and this is not due to the ordinary and customary turnover of labour.
- 1.2 Employees who have their employment terminated due to redundancy will be entitled to:
- a) Two (2) weeks' notice, in lieu of any other period of notice required under this agreement, for each completed year of service, or ordinary pay in lieu, up to a maximum of twelve (12) weeks; and
- b) severance pay of three weeks' ordinary pay for each completed year of service.
- c) "Service" for the purposes of this clause, means:
  - i) Continuous service with Arc; and
  - ii) for former ARGE employees (as defined), all previous continuous service with ARGE; and
  - iii) for former WAGRC employees (as defined), all previous continuous service with the Western Australian public sector less one year's service for each four weeks transfer payment received on termination of employment with WAGRC; and
  - iv) for former WNE employees (as defined), all previous continuous service with WNE.

#### To avoid any uncertainty:

- v) there must not have been any break in service between any of the employers identified above and/or Arc;
- vi) only completed years of service with any of the employers identified above will be recognised; and
- vii) part years of service, irrespective of whether service was continuous will not be aggregated together.

For example, if an employee continuously worked for 3.5 years with ARGE before working 3.5 years with Arc, their redundancy entitlement under this clause 1 will be based on the 3 full years of service with ARGE and 3 full years with Arc, not the total of 7 years.

- d) "Ordinary Pay" for the purpose of this clause, means the employee's ordinary rate of pay (as defined) plus an average, over the twelve (12) months immediately preceding the redundancy, of Stand-by Roster Payments paid in accordance with clause 36.
- 1.3 Where positions covered by this Agreement are made redundant, Arc may apply the following options in managing such redundancies:
- Employees may be redeployed, subject to suitable opportunities existing, and employees will be required to undertake any necessary training or competency development to reasonably facilitate such redeployment. If redeployment does occur then payments under clause 1.2 of Schedule 3 do not apply;
- b) Examining opportunities for voluntary redundancies by calling for expressions of interest, however, Arc will be under no obligation to accept all or any particular expression of interest;

- c) Apply involuntary redundancies. Where multiple involuntary redundancies in the one classification at the one location are proposed employees will be selected based on BRE's need for skills, competencies, qualifications and experience at the time.
- 1.4 Where Arc offers an employee suitable alternative employment, Arc will not be obliged to pay the employee the notice and severance payments prescribed in clause 1.2 of Schedule 3.
- 1.5 In the event of a transmission of business, and
- a) the employee is offered a position with the new employer, and
- b) that offer of employment preserves the employee's existing terms and conditions, including recognition of service, the employee will not be entitled to the notice and severance payments prescribed in clause 1.2 of Schedule 3
- 1.6 Employees whose positions become redundant will be provided with access to applicable counselling services and reasonable paid leave for attendance at these support services.
- 1.7 The redundancy provision in Schedule 3 applies to the exclusion of the redundancy provisions in clause 27 for those employees it applies to.
- 2.1 This Agreement will bind a successor, assignee or transmittee of Arc's business in accordance with the Act.
- 2.2 Where a business is transmitted from Arc to another employer ("the transmittee") and an employee, who at the time of such transmission was an employee of BRE and pursuant to the terms of an offer of employment from the transmittee becomes an employee of the transmittee at the time of the transmission, then:
- a) the continuity of employment of the employee is deemed not to have been broken by reason of such transmission; and
- any service recognised in the employees' contracts of employment from previous transmissions or transfers of employment will be deemed to be service of the employee with the transmittee; and
- c) as part of the transmission, employees will have their accrued leave entitlements (annual leave, long service leave and sick leave) transferred and recognised by the transmittee; and
- d) for the purposes of redundancy, service as defined at clause 1.2 of Schedule 3, will continue to be recognised by the transmittee.
- 2.3 In this clause "business" includes trade, process, business or occupation and includes part of any such business and "transmission" includes transfer, conveyance, assignment or succession whether by agreement or by operation of law and "transmitted" has a corresponding meaning.
- 3.1 Former WAGRC employees will be entitled to long service leave in accordance with clause 21 of this Agreement or where, an employee had entered previously (prior to the commencement date of this Agreement) into a long service leave Buy Out Arrangement then this will continue under this Agreement in accordance with the following terms:
- a) In lieu of accruing long service leave, the employee will receive an additional payment of 1.87% of the employee's base rate of pay, which will then form part of the employee's rate of pay and apply for all purposes;
- b) Any period for which an employee receives this payment in lieu of the accrual of long service leave will not be deemed to be service for the purpose of determining the employee's entitlement to long service leave but such period will not break the employee's continuity of service;

- 3.2 An employee on the long service leave buyout arrangement may elect to change to accruing long service leave at a future service anniversary date, however once this election has been made, the employee may not change back to the long service leave Buyout Arrangement.
- 4.1 An employee who permanently lives and work at the following locations will be provided a district allowance in accordance with Arc policy as amended from time to time:
- a) Kalgoorlie
- b) Merredin
- c) Narngulu
- d) A former WAGRC Employee who is required by ARC to permanently transfer away from the Employee's work location as at December 17 2000 to another work location which is less than 50km away from the Employee's current work location, and who refuses the transfer, will not be entitled to be terminated pursuant to clause 1 of schedule 3. An example of the intent of the clause is a former WAGRC employee can elect to refuse a permanent transfer from Picton to Perth and be entitled to be terminated pursuant to clause 1 of schedule 3, but cannot refuse a transfer from metro to metro is: Midland to Perth Airport (Bravo) and be entitled to be terminated pursuant to clause 1 of schedule 3.

SIGNED by	
Tawa O'Mgara HIR Specials  Name & position of authorised Arc representative	3/1 George Wiende Dr Perk Av Address of authorised Arc representative
On 26,4 /2022	
in the presence of:  Signature of witness	Signature of the authorised Arc representative
Jodie Swiff Name of witness	
3/1 George Wiencke Due, Perth Address of witness	Airport.
Payroll Specialist Occupation of witness	
Refer Corter - State Secretory  Name & position of person on behalf of the CEPU	3 Focal Way, Bayswater WA 6053 Address of person on behalf of the CEPU
on 26 / 04 /2022	Old
Authority to sign	Signature of person on behalf of the CEPU
in the presence of:	
Signature of witness	
Name of witness Andy Giddens	
Address of witness 3. Focal Way Bayousate	w WA 6053
Occupation of witness OV9anise r	

SIGNED by Challe SEC RTBU  Name & position of person on behalf of the RTBU  on ZB 4 12022	Address of person on behalf of the RTBU
Authority to sign	Signature of person on behalf of RTBU
in the presence of:	
Signature of witness	
Name of witness  John Theorogen	
Address of witness 6/256 ADGLARE TE.	PG4511 6000
Occupation of witness INSUSTRIAL AGENT	
Daniel Leggett Narnaula Name & position of person on behalf of Employees on 29 / 04 /2022	Address of person on behalf of Employees
Authority to sign	
in the presence of:	Signature of person on behalf of Employees
Signature of witness	
Name of witness Gary Herbert	
Address of witness	
510 Edward RD NARVGULU	
Occupation of witness	
Perway Patroller NARNGULU	



IN THE FAIR WORK COMMISSION

Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth) ("FW Act")

Matter number: AG2022/1299

**Employer:** Arc Infrastructure Pty Ltd (**Employer**)

**Application:** Section 185 – Application for approval of a single enterprise agreement, namely the Arc

Infrastructure Enterprise Agreement 2022

(Agreement)

Authorised representative: Sam Crowford

Head of People

## **Undertaking-Section 190**

For and on behalf of the Employer I, Sam Crowford:

- 1. declare that I have:
  - a. authority to give this undertaking on behalf of the Employer,
  - b. sought the views of all bargaining representatives for this undertaking pursuant to s 190(4) of the FW Act,
- 2. understand that each undertaking is to be taken to be a term of the Agreement,
- 3. give the following undertakings with respect to the Agreement:
  - a. With respect to the clause 18(1)(a) in the Agreement the clause will be taken to read as follows:

Employees will accrue an additional week of annual leave when deemed to be a seven-day shift worker who is regularly rostered to work on Sundays and public holidays where they perform shift work or are on a permanent night shift. A seven-day shift worker under this clause is a shift worker for the purpose of the NES.

b. With respect to the clause 20.2 in the Agreement – the following additional words will be inserted at the end of the clause:



An Employee is entitled to refuse a request to work on a public holiday if the request to work is not reasonable, or the refusal is reasonable. In determining whether a request, or a refusal, is reasonable, the factors listed in section 114(4) of the Fair Work Act will be taken into account.

c. With respect to clauses 27.3(b), and 1.4 of Schedule 3, in the Agreement – the following additional words will be inserted at the end of each clause:

However, any reduction in severance pay below the applicable amounts contained in section 119 of the Fair Work Act will be subject to Arc obtaining orders under section 120 of the Fair Work Act.

d. With respect to the clause 6.3 in the Agreement – a new subclause (d)
 will be inserted as follows:

An Employee who is employed on a casual basis in the role of Signal Maintainer, Signal Technicain, Communications Technician, Perway Patroller, Track Maintainer, Plant Operator must be engaged and paid for at least 2 consecutive hours of work on each occasion they are required to attend work. On each occasion an Employee who is employed on a casual basis in the role of Plant Fitter is required to attend for work, the Employee must be paid for a minimum of 4 consecutive hours' work.

e. With respect to clause 6.2 in the Agreement – a new subclause (d) will be inserted as follows:

A Part time Employee must be engaged and paid for a mininum of 4 consecutive hours per shift. Arc and a Part time Employee may agree to reduce the minimum engagement to 3 hours where needed to meet the personal circumstances of the Part time Employee.



Date signed:	11 May 2022
For and on behalf of the Employer by:	Samantha Crowford
[In accordance with s.190(5) of the FW Act]	
Signature:	Bul
Witness name:	Tania OʻMeara
Witness signature:	populara.